ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 17 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

RANDALL S. TYLER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000795

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights were violated by trial counsel's failure to object during the prosecutor's closing argument which: (1) violated the "Golden Rule" when he told the jury, e.g., they were "putting themselves on the line against those domestic enemies" like the defendant; (2) impermissibly shifted the burden of proof when he told the jury, e.g., that they "would have to believe every word that came out of [the defendant's] mouth from that witness stand to believe he is not guilty;" and (3) injected a misleading ambiguity into the minds of the jurors by telling them that unexplained "rules" prevented the State from trying the defendant with his co-defendant?

2.

Whether petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights were violated by trial counsel's failure to impeach the State's key witness, Donna Hutto, with prior statements in which she lied to the police?

3.

Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in failing to object when the solicitor pitted petitioner against his co-defendant, who did not even testify at trial and whose statement was admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2003, a Lexington County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder, first-degree burglary, and conspiracy. App. 895-99. On June 9-13, 2003, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Marc H. Westbrook and a jury. App. 1. August G. Swarat, II, and Marion Moses represented the State. App. 1. J. Dennis Bolt represented petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner of all three charges. App. 389, l. 22 – 390, l. 8. Judge Westbrook sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of life imprisonment without parole for murder, life imprisonment for burglary, and five years' imprisonment for conspiracy. App. 401, ll. 7 – 14. Petitioner's conviction was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. State v. Tyler, No. 2005-UP-274 (Ct. App. April 19, 2005).

On March 16, 2007, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 405. On March 5, 2010, petitioner filed an amended PCR application. App. 464. On February 2, 2012, a hearing was held before the Honorable Jeffrey Young. App. 566. Kaelon E. May represented the State. App. 566. Adrienne L. Turner represented petitioner. App. 566. On May 17, 2012, Judge Young denied petitioner's PCR application. App. 835. On June 6, 2012, petitioner filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. App. 858. On August 15, 2012, Judge Young heard argument on the motion. App. 867. On March 28, 2013, Judge Young denied the motion. App. 891. On February 16, 2016, this Court granted certiorari on three of the four issues raised by petitioner. This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner Randall S. Tyler (“Tyler”) testified that another man named Travis Harsey (“Harsey”) murdered the decedent, Robert “Corky” Lewis (“Lewis”). App. 266, l. 11 – 269, l. 23. Tyler and Lewis were very good friends. App. 259, ll. 1 – 4. They were also in the drug business together. App. 260, ll. 3 – 10. Tyler bought drugs from Lewis to sell. App. 260, ll. 6 – 20. Tyler sold drugs to Harsey. App. 260, ll. 6 – 20.

Two days before the shooting, Tyler visited Lewis at his house. App. 262, l. 17 – 263, l. 17. He saw both Lewis and Lewis’s girlfriend, Donna Hutto (“Hutto”). App. 262, ll. 22 – 25. Lewis told Tyler that he would have drugs to sell the coming weekend. App. 262, ll. 22 – 25. They made plans to go fishing because Lewis and Hutto would be at their lake house. App. 263, ll. 6 – 11.

The day of the shooting, Harsey wanted to buy drugs. App. 263, ll. 18 – 22. Tyler caught a ride to Harsey’s house. App. 262, ll. 2 – 12. Harsey drove Tyler to Lewis’s lake house, but Lewis and Hutto were not there. App. 264, l. 14 – 265, l. 6. Tyler asked Harsey to drive him to Lewis’s home to find out when they could buy drugs and go fishing. App. 265, ll. 3 – 21.

They pulled into Lewis’s driveway. App. 265, ll. 9 – 10. Tyler told Harsey he would be right back. App. 265, ll. 9 – 10. Tyler walked to the back of the house to the garage. App. 266, ll. 1 – 4. Lewis was inside working on a trailer. App. 266, ll. 5 – 10. Tyler previously helped Lewis work on this trailer and they briefly talked about their progress. App. 266, ll. 5 – 10.

When Tyler walked over to Lewis to shake his hand, Lewis called his name in a way to indicate that someone was coming up behind him. App. 266, ll. 11 – 17. Harsey unexpectedly ran into Tyler and then hit Lewis in the head. App. 266, ll. 14 – 17. Lewis and Tyler both fell and when they regained their feet, Harsey hit Lewis again, pulled a pistol, and made them go in Lewis’s house at gunpoint. App. 266, ll. 18 – 23. Harsey made the two men sit on a couch and repeatedly

screamed at them, “Where’s the fucking dope?” App. 267, ll. 4 – 20. Harsey continued to hit Lewis and then fired a shot into the couch. App. 267, l. 21 – 268, l. 7. When Harsey fired the shot, Tyler ran out of the house and down the highway. App. 268, ll. 3 – 19.

Harsey pulled up behind Tyler on the road and, holding a pistol, ordered Tyler to “Get in the fucking car.” App. 269, ll. 5 – 9. Tyler got in the car. App. 269, ll. 10 – 14. Harsey repeatedly screamed at Tyler that he “better take my fucking name out of [his] mouth.” App. 269, ll. 10 – 14. Harsey took Tyler home. App. 269, ll. 15 – 17. The next day Tyler called Harsey and Harsey threatened his life, threatened Tyler’s wife, and threatened Tyler’s child if Tyler were to speak to the police. App. 281, ll. 2 – 15. Tyler then called a bail bondsman he knew who helped him to turn himself in to the police. App. 281, l. 16 – 282, l. 24. Tyler emphatically denied trying to rob Lewis or having a plan to rob Lewis. App. 269, ll. 18 – 23. Harsey was charged with Lewis’s murder, but the two men were tried separately to avoid Bruton¹ issues. App. 586, l. 24 – 587, l. 6.

The State’s case against Tyler centered around Hutto, Lewis’s girlfriend. Hutto knew Lewis was in the drug business and hid money in various spots around his house. App. 187, l. 17 – 188, l. 5. She knew Tyler. App. 170, ll. 1 – 22. She corroborated Tyler’s testimony that Tyler had paid them a friendly visit a few days prior to the shooting and that everything was fine between the two men. App. 187, ll. 15 – 21.

Hutto claimed that on the night of the shooting, the sound of dogs barking and people arguing awakened her from a nap in her living room. App. 171, l. 20 – 172, l. 20. She recognized Lewis and Tyler’s voices coming from the garage. App. 172, l. 23 – 173, l. 6. She heard Lewis say, “I ain’t done no kind of shit that like that, Randy. Randy, I ain’t done no kind

of shit like that.” App. 173, ll. 7 – 10. Hutto got a cigarette and used the bathroom. App. 174, ll. 5 – 10.

Hutto then went to the kitchen and looked into the backyard where she saw a person she claimed was Tyler walking into the garage. App. 174, l. 22 – 176, l. 3. She claimed Tyler had on “like a partial mask.” App. 176, ll. 4 – 8. She could not see the man’s face, but claimed it was Tyler. App. 176, l. 23 – 177, l. 3. Hutto heard Tyler say, “Come on. Let’s go in the f’ing house.” App. 177, ll. 4 – 7. Lewis protested: App. 177, ll. 15 – 16. Hutto thought Lewis was scared. App. 177, ll. 4 – 23. Hutto left and went to her brother’s house. App. 178, ll. 2 – 25. Hutto claimed she saw no vehicles in the driveway when she left for her brother’s house. App. 180, ll. 3 – 13. The police were called. App. 179, ll. 5 – 6. The first officer on the scene met Hutto and her brother. App. 81, ll. 15 – 21. Lewis’s body had lacerations on the top of the head and six gunshot wounds. App. to 18, ll. 9 – 19.

The other primary witness against Tyler was Jimmy Williams (“Williams”), the uncle of Tyler’s wife. App. 137, ll. 23 – 25. Williams gave Tyler a ride to Harsey’s house the afternoon of the shooting. App. 138, ll. 5 – 12. App. 139, ll. 12 – 20. Tyler told Williams he had plans to go fishing the following weekend with Lewis. App. 138, l. 22 – 139, l. 5. After the solicitor had Williams declared a hostile witness, he used Williams’ prior statement to elicit testimony that during this ride, Tyler said that he was upset with Lewis about money and “something to do with his brother Matt.” App. 150, ll. 18 – 25. When they got to Harsey’s, Tyler and Harsey spoke alone in the bedroom. App. 153, ll. 5 – 15. Williams became impatient and went into the bedroom to tell them he was going to leave. App. 153, l. 19 – 154, l. 5. Williams claimed he saw a clip for a gun on the bed. App. 154, ll. 9 – 23.

¹ Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).

The next morning, Williams spoke with Tyler and Tyler said that he got into an argument with Lewis at Lewis's house. App. 157, ll. 6 – 16. Tyler said that Harsey shot Lewis. App. 158, ll. 3 – 5. Tyler told Williams that he saw Lewis get shot and that he knew Lewis was dead. App. 158, ll. 6 – 13. Tyler told Williams to tell the police they had been fishing the previous night because of Harsey's threats and Tyler was "in fear for his wife and his son." App. 140, ll. 16 – 141, l. 10. App. 160, l. 25 – 161, l. 19. Williams could tell that Tyler was scared of Harsey. App. 161, ll. 16 – 19.

The solicitor used a statement of Tyler's against him. After Tyler was arrested, he told the police that they needed to look into his brother's possible involvement because of their resemblance. App. 199, ll. 8 – 25. Tyler later gave a written statement describing Harsey's actions that was consistent with Tyler's testimony at trial. App. 209, l. 11 – 210, l. 4.

The police eventually recovered portions of the gun that belonged to Harsey. App. to 14, ll. 5 – 17. Harsey's family attempted to melt the gun. App. 214, ll. 5 – 17. Harsey's mother, brother, and wife were all charged in conjunction with Lewis's death. App. 214, ll. 5 – 17. Harsey admitted owning the same caliber pistol as the one that was used to shoot Lewis. App. 215, ll. 6 – 10. The jury deliberated nearly six hours and sent multiple questions before returning its verdict. App. 383, l. 21 – 388, l. 20.

ARGUMENT

1.

Petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights were violated by trial counsel's failure to object during the prosecutor's closing argument which: (1) violated the "Golden Rule" when he told the jury, e.g., they were "putting themselves on the line against those domestic enemies" like the defendant; (2) impermissibly shifted the burden of proof when he told the jury, e.g., that they "would have to believe every word that came out of [the defendant's] mouth from that witness stand to believe he is not guilty;" and (3) injected a misleading ambiguity into the minds of the jurors by telling them that unexplained "rules" prevented the State from trying the defendant with his co-defendant.

The solicitor in this case gave a closing argument that violated established law in several respects, yet trial counsel did not object. Trial counsel's failure to object to several egregious remarks by the solicitor prejudiced Tyler and requires reversal of his conviction. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

The solicitor began his closing argument by violating the "golden rule" and asking the jury to place themselves in the position of the State, working against not just Tyler, but against all criminals. The solicitor began by discussing Winston Churchill. App. 352, ll. 2 – 23. He described Churchill's leadership of England during World War II when "Germany was bombing his country every night." App. 352, ll. 2 – 23. He talked about people dying in the war and giving up their lives in service to their country. App. 352, ll. 2 – 23. The solicitor then related Winston Churchill's oft-used quote that "jury service is the highest form of service you can give to your community in peacetime," but added this service was "just short of putting your life on the line against a foreign enemy." App. 352, ll. 2 – 23. The solicitor then turned the jury into partisans with this turn of phrase:

Because you are **putting yourselves on the line** against those domestic enemies, those people that walk among us, ladies and gentlemen, that won't follow the law: Dope dealing, murdering, thieving, conniving thugs like Travis Harsey—I agree with [defense counsel] on that—and Randy Tyler, both of them.

App. 352, ll. 18 – 23 (emphasis added). Trial counsel sat mute.

The solicitor injected another element of unfairness into the trial when he told the jury that “rules” he could not explain prevented him from bringing Harsey to court. App. 353, ll. 5 – 20.

The solicitor told the jury:

Well, ladies and gentlemen, a jury is going to get to hear about Travis Harsey. I want to bring up something the judge told you at the start. We have got rules we have to follow. There are rules that prevented us from putting Travis Harsey in the courtroom this week with Mr. Tyler.

I am not even allowed to explain to you what the rules are. If you want to ask me after the trial is over, I would be happy to explain it to you. That's a shell game. That's a smoke screen. I wasn't allowed to do it.

I will deal with Travis Harsey. Or better yet, **the citizens of the community just like yourselves** will deal with Travis Harsey. It won't be very long, but today we are here to deal about Randy Tyler and his participation in this crime.

App. 353, ll. 5 – 20 (emphasis added). Trial counsel sat mute.

The solicitor shifted the burden of proof to Tyler when he told the jury:

You would have to believe every word that came out of Randy Tyler's mouth from that witness stand to believe he is not guilty. **If you disbelieve him in any way whatsoever, he is guilty of all of it.**

You would have to believe everything Randy Tyler has told you. That's your choice. If you want to believe dope-dealing, conspiring-with-thugs Randy Tyler, that's your choice. We don't get a second shot at this. If you find him not guilty, he walks out of this courtroom, no punishment, no charge. It's over.

We don't get a chance to appeal your decision. That's why it's so important. That's why I am so passionate about it. I want to make sure you understand the truth before you leave this courtroom.

App. 357, l. 23 – 358, l. 11 (emphasis added). Trial counsel sat mute.

The PCR court held that the “solicitor’s arguments were proper comments on the facts, but, even if improper, the arguments did not “so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” App. 847. The PCR court stated it was not “convinced that the solicitor’s arguments even reach the level of being improper, but certainly there is no evidence that Applicant was prejudiced.” App. 847. These conclusions by the PCR court are errors of law.

The solicitor’s argument about “domestic enemies” evokes the improper argument that a defendant was a “domestic terrorist” in Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 698 S.E.2d 561 (2010). It invited the jurors to take sides against criminals as a whole and is not addressed to the evidence in Tyler’s case. A solicitor’s argument is bound by rules of fairness and may not be calculated to arouse a juror’s passions or prejudice. Id. at 458, 698 S.E.2d at 566; State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981). It violated the prohibition against arguments which invite jurors to place themselves in the shoes of the victims or of a party. State v. White, 246 S.C. 502, 144 S.E.2d 481 (1965). In White, the solicitor told the jury, “Let him go, let him come back to Williamsburg County. Let him come in your wife’s bedroom or your mother or daughters, any of them, what would you do?” Id. at 504, 144 S.E.2d at 482. The Court reversed, holding that the effect of such an argument is to “completely destroy and nullify all sense of impartiality in a case of this kind.” Id. at 506, 144 S.E.2d at 482.

Asking the jurors to equate themselves to combatants in a war against criminals has long been held to violate a defendant’s right to a fair trial. Viereck v. United States, 318 U.S. 236, 247-48 (1943). In Viereck, during World War II, a prosecutor told the jury that the

American people **are relying upon you** ladies and gentlemen for their protection against this sort of crime, just as much as they are relying upon the protection of the Men who man the guns in Bataan Peninsula, and everywhere else. They are **relying upon you ladies and gentlemen for their protection.** We are at war. You have a duty to perform here.

Viereck, 318 U.S. at 247 n.3 (emphasis added). The Court found these remarks “highly prejudicial” and reversed. Id. at 248. The idea that the nation is “relying” on the jury for “protection” is similar to the solicitor in this case telling the jury that they “are putting themselves on the line against those domestic enemies.” App. 352, ll. 18 – 23.

In State v. Echevarria, 860 P.2d 420, 421-22 (Wash. Ct. App. 1993), the court reversed a conviction because the prosecutor compared the crime at issue with the 1991 Persian Gulf War. In a drug case, the prosecutor referred to the “war on drugs” and told the jury, “This country just had a good example of how to fight a war, how a war can be fought successfully. This country has also seen situations where we haven’t been as successful. The one thing we have learned is the way to successfully fight a war is **to know who your enemy is**, to have a strategy and a direct approach.” Id. at 421 (emphasis added). The court reversed, calling the “prosecutor’s remarks egregious misconduct.” Id. at 422.

The Echevarria court held that the prosecutor’s comments comparing neighborhoods to battlefields and references to the Gulf War “were a deliberate appeal to the jury’s passion and prejudice.” Id. The solicitor’s comments in this case about the jury putting themselves on the line against “those domestic enemies” is analytically indistinguishable and requires reversal. Just as in Viereck, it invited the jury to reach a verdict not on the basis of the evidence presented, but as part of a larger war on crime. See also Arrieta-Agessot v. United States, 3 F.3d 525, 527 (3rd Cir. 1993) (reversing because of prosecutor’s closing arguments regarding the war on drugs and calling the defendants “soldiers in the army of evil, in the army which only purpose [sic] is to

poison, to disrupt, to corrupt.”); United States v. Johnson, 968 F.2d 768, 770 (8th Cir. 1992) (finding that prosecutor telling the jury that they had “to ‘stand as a bulwark against the continuation of what Mr. Johnson is doing on the street, putting poison on the streets,’” constituted reversible error). A solicitor may not enlist the jury on the side of the state in a general war on crime.

The solicitor’s argument concerning the “rules,” that there was a “shell game,” and offering to explain the rules to the jury after the trial injected an arbitrary and irrelevant factor into their deliberations. A solicitor cannot inject material outside of the evidence or the judge’s charge, but must confine himself to the record in the case presented to the jury. See Vaughn v. State, 362 S.C. 163, 169, 607 S.E.2d 72, 75 (2004) (“The State’s closing arguments must be confined to evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence.”); State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 486 S.E.2d 620 (1996); State v. McAlister, 133 S.C. 99, 130 S.E. 511 (1925) (holding it is improper in closing argument for the State to refer to and comment about facts of other cases to indicate or suggest the same results).

In Vaughn, the solicitor informed the jury she did not present additional witnesses because the rules of evidence did not permit the presentation of duplicative testimony. Vaughn at 168, 607 S.E.2d at 74. This Court reversed, in part, because of trial counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s misleading argument. Id. Just as in Vaughn, the solicitor in Tyler’s case introduced arbitrary and speculative matter outside of the jury’s province with his improper argument about unspecified “rules” and a “shell game.”

Finally, the solicitor’s comments that the jury had to believe every word Tyler said or he was “guilty of all of it” impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant. The State bears the burden of proof at all times and this argument cannot be construed in any way other than

shifting the burden of proof to Tyler. The Solicitor's comments "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 643 (1974). This determination requires the Court to look to "the nature of the comments, the nature and quantum of the evidence before the jury, the arguments of opposing counsel, the judge's charge, and whether the errors were isolated or repeated." Bennett v. Angelone, 92 F.3d 1336, 1345-46 (4th Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The State had last argument. These comments by the solicitor were the last things the jury heard from the attorneys. The solicitor did not just make an isolated remark, but deliberately violated established rules regarding closing arguments. The State's closing contained three egregiously improper arguments which, when taken as a whole, satisfies the Donnelly standard. Trial counsel could not have had any reasonable strategy for failing to object to these arguments and giving the trial judge a chance to cure the error. This Court should reverse and grant Tyler a new trial.

2.

Petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights were violated by trial counsel's failure to impeach the State's key witness, Donna Hutto, with prior statements in which she lied to the police.

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