RECEIVED

JUL 18 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000795

Randall S. Tyler, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

PATRICK L. SCHMECKPEPER
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 102100

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

There is probative evidence in support of the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel was ineffective for failing to object to purportedly improper comments the solicitor made during the State's closing argument, where the comments were proper and not prejudicial in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the trial judge's correct instructions that the argument of the attorneys was not evidence.

A.

Petitioner first argues counsel was ineffective for failing to object a purported 'Golden Rule' violation when the solicitor told the jury during his closing statement that it was "putting themselves on the line against those domestic enemies." Counsel testified that he made a "strategic decision" in determining what the impact would have been had he objected. App.p.708, ln.25—p. 709, ln.4. Counsel testified that while he normally does not "shy away from objecting to a closing argument," and that he does it "all the time," he had to consider how it would affect the credibility of the defense, or whether it would "alienate the jury...." App.p.709, ln.4-8. Counsel stated that he had "gotten a conviction reversed before on improper argument," so he is "normally attuned to that." App.p.706.

In denying and dismissing the allegation, the PCR Judge rejected Petitioner's contention that the comments were improper; the PCR Judge further concluded that they nevertheless "did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." App.p.847.

Discussion

There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR Judge's finding. A Golden

Rule argument is an argument “that suggests to the jurors that they put themselves in the shoes of one of the parties.” State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 120, 674 S.E.2d 532, 539 (Ct. App. 2009). A Golden Rule argument asking the jurors to place themselves in the victim’s shoes tends to completely destroy all sense of impartiality of the jurors, and its effect is to arouse passion and prejudice. Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 515-16, 680 S.E.2d 909, 914 (2009) (finding counsel ineffective for failing to object to improper argument asking the jury to “speak for” the murdered victim; see also Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 609, 602 S.E.2d 738, 744 (2004) (improper argument where solicitor asked jurors to “put yourself in [victim’s] shoes, size six”); Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 516-17, 680 S.E.2d 909, 915 (2009) (asking jurors to “speak for” the victim). Petitioner stretches to even infer that the comment requested the jurors to place themselves in the shoes of the victim.² See Harris at 122, 674 S.E.2d at 540 (finding no Golden Rule Argument where the State did not ask or suggest to the jury that they place themselves in the shoes of the victim). Therefore, PCR Judge’s finding here was sound.

There is also probative evidence in the record in support of the PCR Judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove prejudice. App.p.847. Any alleged impropriety of the solicitor’s argument must be viewed in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge’s instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is

² To the extent Petitioner bases his argument on Vasquez, a plurality opinion involving references to “domestic terrorism,” that case is not controlling. Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 698 S.E.2d 561. In Vasquez, the plurality found that the solicitor “intentionally and unnecessarily injected religious prejudice into [the defendant’s] trial.” Id. at 464, 698 S.E.2d at 469 (Beatty, J., with one justice concurring and one justice concurring in the result). Specifically, the solicitor referred to the defendant, a Muslim, as a “domestic terrorist,” and correlated his conduct to the events of September 11, 2001. Id. at 453, 698 S.E.2d at 564. The plurality took the solicitor’s comments to be a thinly veiled implication that the defendant “deserved the death penalty because he was a fanatic terrorist and a practicing Muslim who inspired fear across the county.” Id. The plurality in Vasquez did *not* address whether or not a Golden Rule violation occurred. Id. at 468, 698 S.E.2d at 571 (Toal, C.J., and Hearn, J., dissenting). The dissent noted that the references in question did not encourage the jury to depart from neutrality and decide the case on personal interest or bias rather than the evidence presented, and therefore did not constitute an impermissible Golden Rule -type argument. Id. at 468, 698 S.E.2d at 572.

overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and Petitioner has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. Id.

Even assuming there was improper argument in this case, a review of the entire record precludes a finding of prejudice. First, the solicitor's comments did not infect the trial with unfairness to the extent that Petitioner's conviction was a denial of due process because there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. See Smith at 523, 654 S.E.2d at 532 (*citing* State v. McFadden, 318 S.C. 404, 416, 458 S.E.2d 61, 68 (Ct. App. 1995)). On direct appeal, the Court of Appeals³ found "overwhelming evidence of [Petitioner's] guilt as to . . . (1) criminal conspiracy, (2) murder, and (3) first degree burglary." State v. Tyler, Op. No. 2005-UP-274 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 19, 2005). Petitioner lied when questioned by law enforcement about his involvement by pointing them toward his brother. Petitioner also convinced a friend, Mr. Williams, to help him fabricate an alibi. Mr. Williams eventually told law enforcement the truth, which was that Petitioner was on his way to the victim's home the night of the murder and was angry about money. Ms. Hutto's testimony was substantially similar, and indicated that Petitioner was wearing some sort of mask. Petitioner's DNA was matched to a bloody knuckle mark on the victim's ceiling, near where the victim sometimes stored money. A drawer from the victim's bedroom also appeared to have been rummaged through.

³ The decision was issued Per Curiam by a panel consisting of then Judge Kittredge, then Chief Judge Hearn, and Judge Williams.

Additionally, the trial judge very clearly instructed the jury that they were the finders of fact, and that they were to consider only the evidence that came into the courtroom. App.p.43, l. 24 - p. 44, l. 1; p.45, l. 1-2. The trial judge explained that evidence consisted of “the testimony of the witnesses who take [the] stand, plus any items or exhibits or documents that come in through those witnesses.” App.p.45, l. 10-13. Crucially, the trial judge told the jury *multiple times* that the opening and closing statements of the lawyers were not evidence.⁴ App.p.45, l. 19 - p.46, l. 7.

In light of the entire record, including the trial judge’s proper instruction and the overwhelming evidence of guilt, any alleged improper argument did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. Accordingly, there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR Judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to show prejudice. The order of dismissal should be affirmed.

B.

Petitioner also argues counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments made by the solicitor during the State’s closing argument that purportedly constituted an impermissible burden shift. Petitioner takes issue with the solicitor’s comment the jury would have to believe every word that came out of Petitioner’s mouth from that witness stand to believe he is not guilty. App.p.357, l. 23-25.

Counsel testified that he made a “strategic decision” in determining what the impact would have been had he objected. App.p.708, l. 25 - p.709, l. 4. Counsel further stated that while

⁴ The trial judge repeated this instruction to the jury immediately before closing arguments. App.p.323, l. 19-22.

he normally does not “shy away from objecting to a closing argument,” and that he does it “all the time,” he had to consider how it would affect the credibility of the defense, or whether it would “alienate the jury....” App.p.709, l. 4-8.

In denying and dismissing the allegation, the PCR Judge found that the trial judge’s instruction cured any potential harm.

Discussion

There is probative evidence to support the PCR Judge’s ruling. First, counsel offered credible testimony concerning his strategic decision-making process. Petitioner also took the stand and opened himself to comments from the solicitor concerning his credibility, as well as the importance of his testimony in the context of the evidence presented at trial. Additionally, in the context of the entire record these comments – even if improper – did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. As discussed above and by the Court of Appeals, the evidence of Petitioner’s guilt was overwhelming. The trial judge also offered a clear and unmistakable instruction directly on point instructing the jury as to the applicable burdens of proof:

A person charged with committing a criminal offense in South Carolina is never required to prove his innocence. The Defendant **has no burden of proof**. It is a vital and important rule of law in our State that the Defendant in a criminal trial, no matter how serious the offense, must always be presumed innocent until his guilt has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

“The presumption of innocence remains with him at all times, from the time of arraignment, all the way through trial and unless and until a jury reaches a verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

It is the solemn duty of you as the jury if you are not clearly convinced of his guilt beyond every reasonable doubt to the contrary to find the Defendant not guilty.

App.p.366, l. 20 - p.367, l. 22. Therefore, the PCR Judge correctly denied and dismissed the deficient allegation.

C.

Petitioner also argues counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's insertion of a "misleading ambiguity into the minds of the jurors." Petitioner asserted the solicitor improperly told the jury that unexplained "rules" prevented the State from trying the defendant with his co-defendant.

Counsel testified during the evidentiary hearing that he did not object to these comments because Petitioner's defense was to put his absent co-defendant on trial, to establish the gun belonged to the co-defendant, and to rely on the fact that the state would have to explain why the codefendant was not present at the trial. App.p.707, l. 14-25. Counsel stated that, after blasting the State for not calling the codefendant as a witness, he did not think an objection to the solicitor's explanation would have gone very far with the jury. App.p.708, ln.2-8.

In denying the allegation, the PCR Judge articulated that counsel had a rational explanation to support his justification for not objecting here. App.p.847.

Discussion

A solicitor cannot inject material outside of the evidence or the judge's charge, but must confine himself to the record in the case presented to the jury. See Vaughn v. State, 362 S.C. 163, 169, 607 S.E.2d 620 (1996); State v. McAlister, 133 S.C. 99, 130 S.E. 511 (1925) (holding it is improper in closing argument for the State to refer to and comment about facts of other cases to indicate or suggest the same results). However, where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992). Counsel provided a compelling, strategic reason for not objecting that was central to his defense theory of the case.

Accordingly, there is probative evidence to support the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to show deficient performance.

Petitioner has also failed to show prejudice. As discussed above, the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming. Further, whatever rules the solicitor may have been referring to, the trial judge's instructions were clear – he told the jury that it must “accept the law as I give it to you.” App.p.46, l. 14 - p.47, l. 1. Following closing arguments, the judge explained to the jury that it was his “duty to instruct you as to the law which applies in this case,” App.p.365, l. 22 - p.366, l. 1, and that it “must accept [the law] strictly as I give it to you” App.p.373, l. 6-7. In light of the overwhelming evidence and correct charge of the law by the trial judge, there is probative evidence to support the PCR Judge's ruling that Petitioner failed to show prejudice with respect to this allegation.

II.

There is probative evidence to support the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner did not meet his burden to prove counsel was ineffective for failing to use Donna Hutto's prior statements to law enforcement, where counsel made that decision pursuant to a valid trial strategy and Petitioner suffered no resulting prejudice.

Petitioner alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Donna Hutto, the victim's widow, with prior statements to law enforcement that were inconsistent as to the events that occurred after she witnessed Petitioner arguing angrily with the victim the night of the murder.

The PCR Judge's finding is supported by ample evidence in the record. Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choice of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 19, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992).

Counsel articulated a sound strategic basis for the decisions he made with respect to Ms. Hutto's prior statement.

Counsel expressed concern at the evidentiary hearing with the amount of "incriminating stuff" in Donna Hutto's statement. App.p.711, ln.14-15. He said that Ms. Hutto was a very compelling witness, and was "clear in her identification of [Petitioner's] voice and her general description of him." App.p.711, ln.20-22. Counsel opined that where the issue was "the timeline between when they went back and when they called 9-1-1," he did not think that issue had "any material impact on Petitioner's defense." App.p.711, l. 22-25. In any event, counsel said he did not think "beat[ing] up on the victim's widow" would have helped Petitioner. App.p.695, l. 17-19. Counsel did not feel Ms. Hutto's statements had very high impeachment value, and he was afraid that putting them in would bolster her as a witness. App.p.712, l. 1-7.

Counsel's testimony is dispositive, and his strategy was objectively reasonable. This is not a situation where counsel failed to raise a key piece of impeachment evidence to the jury's attention due to an "oversight." Compare Rutland v. State, 415 S.C. 570, 575, 785 S.E.2d 350, 352 (2016). Instead, he made a conscious decision after carefully considering the evidence not to use what he considered to be lousy impeachment evidence to "beat up on" a sympathetic witness.⁵ See Strickland at 690-91, 104 S.Ct. at 2066 (strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable). Because counsel acted pursuant to a valid trial strategy, the PCR Judge's finding should be

⁵ Tellingly, counsel's argument to the jury did not focus on the veracity of Ms. Hutto's testimony, but instead the *reliability* of her characterization of Petitioner's interactions with her. During closing arguments, counsel said that he did not want to "disparage or discredit Ms. Hutto. She just that night lost her husband. I'm sure all of this was somewhat of a blur. I am sure with a traumatic experience like that, I am sure you can't recall everything with scientific accuracy. I don't fault her for that." App.p.336, l. 25 - p. 337, l. 3.

affirmed.

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